## FINAL PROTOCOL COMMISSIONED BY THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH RESEARCH (NIHR) HEALTH TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT (HTA)

**PROJECT REFERENCE NUMBER: HTA NIHR132803** 

Version number: 1.0

Date: 20th September 2021

### TITLE

What is the comparative clinical and cost-effectiveness of pharmacological treatments for adults with chronic migraine?

### **PROJECT TEAM**

### Project lead:

Dr Hema Mistry

Associate Professor in Clinical Trials and Health Economics

Warwick Clinical Trials Unit

Warwick Medical School

University of Warwick

Coventry, CV4 7AL

Email: Hema.Mistry@warwick.ac.uk

### **Project Team:**

Dr Felix Achana, Associate Professor in Medical Statistics and Health Technology Assessment, University of Warwick; f.achana@warwick.ac.uk

Mrs Anna Brown, Information Specialist, University of Warwick; anna.brown@warwick.ac.uk

Mrs Lesley Clarke, Independent member of the public

Mr Andrew Cooklin, Independent member of the public

Dr Callum Duncan, Consultant Neurologist, NHS Grampian; callum.duncan@nhs.scot

Dr Amy Grove, Associate Professor of Health Technology Assessment and Implementation Science,

University of Warwick; a.l.grove@warwick.ac.uk

Professor Jason Madan, Professor of Health Economics, University of Warwick;

j.j.madan@warwick.ac.uk

Dr Manjit Matharu, Consultant Neurologist, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; manjit.matharu@nhs.net

Dr Rachel Potter, Senior Research Fellow, University of Warwick; r.potter@warwick.ac.uk Dr Sophie Rees, Senior Research Fellow, University of Warwick; s.rees.1@warwick.ac.uk Professor Martin Underwood, Professor of Clinical Trials, University of Warwick; m.underwood@warwick.ac.uk

This study/project is funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment programme (project reference NIHR132803). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

### **Table of Contents**

Detailed Research Plan	3
What is the problem being addressed?	3
Why is this research important in terms of improving the health and/or wellbeing of the and/or to patients and health and care services?	-
Current treatments and existing evidence	4
Research question/aims/objectives	6
Project Plan	6
WP1: Systematic review and network meta-analysis of effectiveness. Co-leads: AG, R	-A8
WP2: Adverse event review. Lead: AG	10
WP3: Cost-effectiveness review. Lead: HM	10
WP4: Cost-effectiveness model. Co-leads: HM, FA	10
WP5: Consensus findings and research recommendations. Co-leads: RP, SR	11
Publication strategy	12
Timelines	12
References	14

### **Detailed Research Plan**

### What is the problem being addressed?

Migraine is the world's 3<sup>rd</sup> commonest disabling disorder¹ and the top cause of years lived with disability in those aged 15-49.² Migraine affects 15% of UK adults, most commonly young adults with work and family commitments.³ It costs the UK over £1.5 billion per year.³ Chronic migraine, defined as headaches on 15 days or more a month, for more than three months with features of migraine on at least eight of those days, is a profoundly disabling condition. Around 2-4% of the population meet an epidemiological definition of chronic headache.⁴,⁵ In our recent trial of supportive self-management for those living with chronic headache, 727/742 (98%) of those assessed for inclusion had migraine. This group have the potential to benefit from effective prophylactic drugs to prevent migraine attacks. Our patient-partners describe it as a condition that 'redefines, and can destroy, work and family life'.

Pharmacological treatments are available for the prevention of migraine, but the current state of the evidence is unhelpful for patients and clinicians making decisions about treatment choice. The picture regarding cost-effectiveness of different pharmacological treatments is also unclear. With the advent of expensive calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) such as erenumab, fremanezemab, and galcanezemab, there is a pressing need to compare the clinical-and cost-effectiveness of drugs to treat chronic migraine.

## Why is this research important in terms of improving the health and/or wellbeing of the public and/or to patients and health and care services?

In 2011 the World Health Organisation (WHO) called for action to address the 'worldwide neglect' of headache disorders,<sup>6</sup> yet migraine remains a leading cause of global disease burden.<sup>2, 7, 8</sup> Our 2017 meta-ethnography identified the profound impact of living with the 'spectre' of headache. Key themes included loss of control over one's life, strained relationships, and social exclusion.<sup>9</sup> The burden on family, and the care burden for those living with a person with migraine increases with headache frequency.<sup>10</sup>

The direct and indirect health care costs of chronic migraine are 3-4 times as high as episodic migraine.<sup>11</sup> Episodic migraine is diagnosed in people with migraine who have less than 15 headache days a month. People with migraine miss, on average, 10.2 work-equivalent days per year (absent on 4.4 days and reduced productivity 11.4 days).<sup>11</sup> Higher work-related difficulties are associated with chronic migraine (vs. episodic migraine).<sup>12</sup> The burden on family, and the care burden for those living with a person with migraine increases with headache frequency.<sup>10</sup>

This research is timely given the increasing availability of CGRP MAbs; usually given as monthly injections. The British National Formulary (BNF) price for typical three-month course of the CGRP MAbs erenumab, fremanezemab and galcanezemab are £1,160 to £2,319, £1,350, and £1,800 respectively. Whereas, the oral drugs recommended by National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) for migraine prophylaxis; Amitriptyline, candesartan, propranolol and topiramate cost, £3.15 to £7.98, £4.98 to £9.48, £4.08 to £12.90 and £1.34 to £9.11 for three-months treatment respectively. The second respectively.

Evidence synthesis and an economic model is very much needed on prophylactic medications for chronic migraine. It is important for both patients and healthcare professionals to know the comparative effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of older oral drugs and newer injectable treatments.

### **Current treatments and existing evidence**

The existing literature is of little help to clinicians and patients making decisions about which drugs to consider. Several drugs, e.g., topiramate, propranolol, amitriptyline, candesartan, and valproate are used as chronic migraine prophylactics. The first two are recommended by NICE and Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) based on mixed quality evidence. <sup>18, 19</sup> Weaker evidence supports use of amitriptyline, recommended by both, and for candesartan and valproate, recommended by SIGN, but not by NICE. Overall, the available evidence base is poor quality, extrapolated almost exclusively from trials on episodic migraine. Very few studies specifically investigate chronic migraine. <sup>18-20</sup> Therefore, we cannot assume that drugs shown to reduce the number of headache days in people with episodic migraine will have a positive effect on the long-term disability caused by chronic migraine.

The most recent evidence on this topic was produced by Jackson et al (2015)<sup>21</sup> who pooled evidence from numerous randomised controlled trials (RCTs) to explore potential differences for continuous and dichotomous outcomes, for both chronic migraine and episodic migraines. Their systematic review identified thirteen trials of oral drugs (n=1,412, range 28-328, mean 101) which included people with chronic migraine (five also randomised people with chronic daily headache or chronic tension-type headache).<sup>22-34</sup>

Jackson and colleagues (2015) concluded that "these comparisons have been somewhat haphazard, and many important potential comparisons have not been made". This 2015 study needs to be updated using methods which are able to synthesise the overall evidence for prophylactic medications for use in people with chronic migraine, for example, using a network meta-analysis (NMA).<sup>21</sup>

An up-to-date overview of the relative benefits, harms, and costs of prophylactic medications to treat chronic migraine is needed. Without this, the only good evidence available to guideline producers will be for expensive CGRP MAbs, which have a modest additional effect size compared to placebo.<sup>35, 36</sup> A recent study by Forbes et al (2020)<sup>37</sup> found that compared with placebo in the seven chronic migraine RCTs (n = 5,292), the additional pooled reduction is monthly migraine days from CGRP treatment was 2.24 days (95% CI 1.79 to 2.67). They further estimated that 68% of the apparent reduction in headache days in the intervention groups was due to contextual effects. In other words, people in control group would expect an average reduction in monthly headache days of four and half days with intervention group gaining an additional reduction of two and a quarter days; six and three-quarter days in total. Thus, it can be difficult to judge clinically if treatment has been effective for an individual. It is unclear how the effect sizes for CGRP MAbs compare with the effect size of more established oral drugs or botulinum toxin type A (BTA) injections. Nevertheless, pressure is increasing on the NHS to provide these expensive treatments to people in need.<sup>38</sup>

Clinical effectiveness scoping review

We undertook exploratory Medline searches to assess the scale of the literature in relation to our work packages. Whilst our scoping searches suggest that a sensitive, systematic search for RCTs of migraine/headache treatments would retrieve a few thousand records, very few of these are relevant to chronic migraine specifically, and some of these are very small trials. We anticipate that no more than 40 studies would meet the inclusion criteria of our clinical effectiveness systematic review and network meta-analysis.

The evidence on oral prophylactic drugs and the most recent trials of CGRP inhibitors is mainly limited to just a single parameter: headache days. The various adverse events caused by these drugs make it unclear how to judge overall effectiveness.<sup>21</sup> Our recent work developing a core outcome set for headache trials indicates that quality of life (QoL) is at least as important to patients,<sup>39</sup> but this important parameter has not been the focus of much previous research. Reduction of headache days may not provide the anticipated improved QoL if the side-effects of prophylactic drugs are deleterious. Reducing the impact on QoL has received less attention in migraine research and is considered just as important as reducing headache days by our patient-partners.<sup>11, 40</sup>

### Adverse events scoping review

Our decision to focus on adverse events (AEs) for WP2 came as a result of conversations with our patient-partners, who tell us that side-effects of treatment are a barrier to using otherwise effective drugs. This is supported by the literature, which shows a complex picture around side effects and patient preferences. Depression, memory loss, and weight gain are the least well accepted sideeffects of migraine prophylactics (the latter especially amongst women).<sup>41</sup> A 2019 choice experiment identified that participants wished to avoid 10% weight gain more than they wished to avoid thinking and memory problems.<sup>42</sup> Published adverse event data is included in the summary of product characteristics, and elsewhere in guideline documents. For example, Valproate is usually restricted to men and post-menopausal women and is not used by a large proportion of migraine sufferers such as women of childbearing age, as children exposed to Valproate in the utero are at high risk of serious developmental disorders and congenital malformations. 19, 43 Whereas, Topiramate can reduce efficacy of hormonal contraceptives and is teratogenic. Cognitive adverse effects and depression are also common side effects of Topiramate.<sup>19</sup> What is less clear is the incidence of common AEs specifically when used for chronic migraine prophylaxis. In particular effects on weight and cognitive functioning that are important to people with migraine. 41 These data are needed to feed into our de novo economic model which we will produce in work package 4. Clinical effectiveness alone will not provide the full picture or provide useful findings for clinicians and patients making decisions about prophylactic treatment options. Apart from the recent trials of CGRP MAbs adverse events are poorly reported. Based on our scoping review few chronic migraine studies will provide any useable adverse data (n<25). For this reason, we will extend our inclusion criteria for adverse event analysis to include trials with mixed populations and episodic migraine studies, that would otherwise meet inclusion criteria for the effectiveness analysis. This will allow us to give a robust estimate of incidence of adverse events when used to prevent migraine.

### Cost-effectiveness scoping review

A previous review Yu et al (2010)<sup>44</sup> examined the cost-effectiveness of pharmacotherapy for acute migraine prevention in a primary care setting. A decision-analytical model was constructed which added five treatments (amitriptyline, topiramate, timolol, divalproex sodium/valproate, or

propranolol) to abortive therapy compared with abortive therapy alone. Yu and colleagues (2010)<sup>44</sup> found that these preventive medications appeared to be cost-effective. However, this outdated study does not include CGRPs MAbs and BTA. Furthermore, the published paper did not conduct a full systematic review so potentially relevant evidence on the cost-effectiveness of prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine may have been missed and also any relevant published studies will not have been quality assessed. Moreover, the model is based on a societal perspective and not a healthcare perspective as recommended by NICE in their reference case analysis.<sup>45</sup> Based on our scoping review we anticipate no more than 15 cost-effectiveness studies of use of prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine. We did not identify any within trial cost-effectiveness studies.

Our study will provide high quality, robust evidence about the clinical and cost-effectiveness of, and AEs associated with, the various preventative drug treatments available for chronic migraine. The outcome of the three reviews will have direct impact on patients, clinicians, policymakers, and researchers who currently do not have this comparative information available to make informed treatment choices. We will also seek consensus about future research recommendations into drug treatment of people with chronic migraine.

### Research question/aims/objectives

The overall study aim is:

 To review and compare the clinical and cost-effectiveness of drug treatments for adults with chronic migraine.

We have identified five Research Questions (RQ) which align to each component work package:

- 1. What is the comparative effectiveness of prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine?
- 2. What are the comparative incidences of adverse events of prophylactic drugs used for migraine?
- 3. What is known about the cost-effectiveness of prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine?
- 4. Which prophylactic drugs for the management of chronic migraine are the most cost-effective?
- 5. Based on our findings what should the research recommendations be?

### **Project Plan**

There are five work packages (WPs) encompassing: three systematic reviews and a network metaanalysis, development of an economic model, and consensus work to develop research recommendations. This project will provide a rigorous and exhaustive assessment of the findings of the current literature and ensure that future research is relevant and meaningful to people with chronic migraine and their health and care providers.

**WP1** we will conduct a systematic review and NMA of the clinical effectiveness of prophylactic medications for treatment of chronic migraine. Few syntheses of the migraine prophylaxis literature have targeted specifically at chronic migraine. No studies have produced an overall synthesis of the effect of prophylactic medications for chronic migraine using NMA. To map onto the core outcome set produced by some members of this research team, we will have two main outcomes; Headache/migraine days, and headache-related QoL. Other outcomes that may be reported include overall health-related QoL, acute treatment use, health service activity, days lost from usual activities,

health care usage, headache severity and duration.

**WP2** we will conduct a systematic review of the incidence of adverse events (AEs) and use evidence from studies of both chronic and episodic migraine. Our patient-partners tell us that side-effects can be a barrier to using otherwise effective prophylactics for people with migraine. However, little attention has been given to this topic in the published literature. It is essential that the comparative incidence of AEs of prophylactic drugs is established for both the development of our economic model and to inform the treatment options for patients and healthcare professionals.

**WP3** we will conduct a final systematic review assessing the cost-effectiveness of prophylactic medications used for treatment of chronic migraine. Little is known about the comparative cost-effectiveness of chronic migraine prophylaxis, but this is key for understanding the impact treatment choices have on the health service.

WP4 will be development of an economic model comparing prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine.

**WP5** will bring together people with chronic migraine and clinicians in order to feedback the findings of our reviews and identify and prioritise research recommendations. This will enable translation of our research findings into useful recommendations for research priorities, grounded in the perspectives of both people with chronic migraine and headache specialists.

### Systematic review methods used in WP 1-3

Search strategies will be based on the approach described in the Cochrane handbook, 46 these will be developed by an information specialist (AB), in collaboration with the health economists (RF2, HM, FA), the clinical effectiveness reviewers (RF1, AG) and the clinical experts (MM, CD, MU). For WP1 and WP2, we will systematically search the following healthcare databases: MEDLINE All (Ovid interface, 1946 to latest daily update), Embase (Ovid, 1947 to latest daily update), Cochrane CENTRAL (Wiley, current issue), Science Citation Index Expanded (Web of Science, 1970 to present) and Global Index Medicus (WHO, incorporating AIM, IMEMR, IMSEAR, LILACS and WPRO). We will also search trial registries via ClinicalTrials.gov, and the WHO ICTRP Portal, to identify relevant ongoing and/or unpublished studies. For WP3, we will search: MEDLINE All (Ovid interface, 1946 to latest daily update) Embase (Ovid, 1947 to latest daily update), EconLit with Full Text (EbscoHost), NHS Economic Evaluation Database (NHS EED) and Health Technology Assessment (HTA) Database (both via CRD), International HTA database (INAHTA), Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Registry (Tufts Medical Center) and EconPapers (RePEc). Database searches will be supplemented with additional, targeted, iterative internet (Google) searches for economic evaluations and cost effectiveness studies. Furthermore, we will look at the websites of leading reimbursement agencies (e.g. NICE, Scottish Medicines Consortium (SMC), All Wales Medicine Strategy Group (AWMSG), Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technology in Health (CADTH)) for any relevant information they may have for the economic model in WP4.

We will construct a broad search strategy based on the migraine/headache population and prophylactic drug interventions of interest. Searches will combine keywords and, where appropriate, thesaurus (MeSH/EMTREE) terms, and will be tailored to the different search interfaces. A sensitive filter for RCTs will be added to the MEDLINE, Embase and Science Citation Index searches for the

clinical effectiveness and adverse effects reviews (WP1 and WP2). A filter for cost-effectiveness studies/economic evaluations will be added to the MEDLINE and Embase searches for the cost-effectiveness review (WP3). No date or language limits will be applied. Draft MEDLINE search strategies are available from the authors upon request. These will be checked by another Information Specialist (not otherwise involved in the project) for any omissions or errors in spelling, search syntax, structure and use of MeSH headings, before being adapted for the other databases. Records retrieved by database searches will be exported into EndNote X9, where duplicates will be systematically identified and removed.

Additional, pragmatic searches will be run in MEDLINE, Embase and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews to identify recent systematic reviews of prophylactic migraine treatments. The reference lists of these and of the NICE, SIGN and American Headache Society guidelines will be checked for further studies meeting our inclusion criteria. Authors of key studies will be contacted and asked for details of any articles (e.g., reports, papers published and unpublished) not identified through our search strategy. We will do forward and backward citation tracking from key papers of included studies, using Science Citation Index (Web of Science), possibly supplemented by other sources and/or manual reference list checking where Science Citation Index coverage is judged to be insufficient.

On completion of the searches and removal of duplicates, two reviewers (RF1, RF2) will independently assess the retrieved citations against our inclusion/exclusion criteria for each RQ. The same set of results (identified by the search for RCTs) will be screened against the different inclusion criteria for the clinical effectiveness and adverse effects reviews (WP1 and WP2). At each screening stage, disagreements will be resolved through discussion or by a third reviewer (AG). Data extraction will be completed by the same two reviewers independently for each RQ using a pre-specified and piloted data extraction forms. We will use forward and backward citation tracking to ensure we have included outputs related to each study.

All reviews will follow the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic review and Meta-Analysis (PRISMA) guidelines,<sup>47</sup> and we will publish protocol papers using the PRISMA-P guidelines<sup>48</sup> and register them on PROSPERO.

We plan to assess and communicate the degree of certainty of our synthesis findings. We will do this using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluations (GRADE) framework. <sup>49</sup> Using GRADE will enable us to develop and present summaries of the evidence synthesises and generate recommendations on the certainty of our findings (very low, low, moderate, and high) which take into account risk of bias, imprecisions, inconsistency, indirectness and publication bias.

# WP1: Systematic review and network meta-analysis of effectiveness. Co-leads: AG, FA RQ: What is the comparative effectiveness of prophylactic medications (singular or in combination) for chronic migraine?

We will systematically review randomised controlled trials of selected prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine, including CGRP MAbs and BTA compared to placebo or other drugs using the review methods outlined above. Decisions about what information to include in the NMA will be informed by

its relevance to the decision problem and sufficient similarity across studies (e.g., patient characteristics and study design) to reduce the risk of violating the underlying assumptions of transitivity/coherence when pooling direct and indirect evidence across studies. We will use an iterative process and refer to the Cochrane handbook<sup>46</sup> to identify studies and treatments for inclusion in the NMA. We will define an initial core set of migraine treatments meeting the criteria for prophylactic use in chronic migraine in the UK and include trials of such treatments in a chronic migraine population. Drugs not meeting the criteria for the core set will be considered for inclusion in a supplementary set of treatments.<sup>50</sup> Only if necessary, and scientifically robust, will we extend the network to include supplementary treatments. We will derive an internally consistent set of treatment effects from this evidence base by fitting a generalised linear model NMA.<sup>51</sup> We will fit both fixed and random effects models and select the best fitting model based on model fit assessments and magnitude of the between-study variation in the treatment effect. Statistical heterogeneity will be quantified using the between-study standard deviation and  $I^2$ -statistic. The between-study standard deviation gives a direct measure of variance in the treatment effect across studies, 50, 51 whilst the 12statistic measures the proportion of variance across studies that is due to differences in population characteristics.<sup>52, 53</sup> Where we find evidence of substantial heterogeneity in the data, we will use network meta-regression to identify the characteristics of the study population that could explain this heterogeneity and identify subgroup of patients mostly likely to benefit from treatment. We will also test for consistency in the evidence and explore the impact of effect modifiers using subgroup analysis and network meta-regression. 54, 55

**Population**: People with chronic migraine. For the main analysis, all RCTs will be included. For a sensitivity analysis, we plan to exclude studies with, an average of fewer than 100 participants per arm, in each pairwise comparison, to avoid risk of low-quality studies contributing disproportionally to our overall conclusions. With 90% follow-up, a trial with 50 participants per arm would be powered to show an implausible effect size of 0.5 indicating that any smaller trial is unlikely to have been well designed.

Just including studies where all participants meet ICHD-3 criteria for chronic migraine runs the risk of substantially reducing pool of available studies. Many older studies were performed before these criteria were developed. Even recent studies are not always clear on the definition used for chronic migraine. Trials may also include a mixture of people with chronic migraine and frequent episodic migraine. For these reasons we will include all studies that are predominately of people with symptoms consistent with chronic migraine. For each included study we will report the entry criteria as presented by the original authors, and any relevant descriptors of population included in our final report. If appropriate we will seek clarification from the original authors. Two clinical team members (MM/MU) working independently will assess RCTs for inclusion against these criteria. Any disagreement not resolved in discussion will be arbitrated by a third clinical team member (CD). If data permit, we will do a sensitivity analysis just including studies were all participants meet ICHD-3 criteria for chronic migraine.

**Interventions**: We will work with clinical colleagues to decide on *a final core set* of migraine prophylactic drugs. These most likely will include: CGRP MAbs, BTA, anti-depressants, ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers, beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, pizotifen, and anticonvulsants (topiramate, valproate/divalproex, gabapentin).

**Comparators**: Placebo, usual care, or other prophylactic drugs

**Outcomes**: Our analyses have two primary foci: Firstly, headache days / migraine days which are reported separately in many studies. Secondly, headache-related QoL. Where possible, we will use outcomes such as HIT-6, MIDAS and Migraine Specific QoL questionnaire converted to a standardised scale.

Secondary analyses: If there are sufficient data, we will use the same overall model approach for acute treatment use, headache intensity and duration, health service activity, and days lost from usual activities. If possible, we will explore if medication overuse reduces treatment response. We will report separately on any sub-group analyses in included studies.

### WP2: Adverse event review. Lead: AG

## RQ: What are the comparative incidences of side-effects of prophylactic medications used for migraine?

We will review all RCTs of migraine prophylactic drugs identified via the literature search for RCTs, currently prescribable in the UK, for both chronic and episodic migraine to identify comparative incidence of drug AEs.

We will report on the risk of bias in all studies included in WP1 but, for the additional analyses for this WP, we will only report quality assessment (using Cochrane Risk of Bias tool) and data extraction on those reporting AEs. We anticipate that identified studies would be too heterogeneous to facilitate pooling of study data and plan a narrative synthesis. If pooling is possible, we will perform a random effects meta-analyses.<sup>46</sup>

### WP3: Cost-effectiveness review. Lead: HM

### RQ: What is known about the cost-effectiveness of prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine?

We will review the literature to identify studies assessing the cost-effectiveness of prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine. We will include all full economic evaluation studies that report both costs and outcomes of at least two alternative prophylactic drugs, placebo, or no treatment in adults. Withintrial and model-based full economic evaluation studies from any country (including studies based on analysis of registry data) will be included if they report comparative cost-benefit, cost-consequence, cost-effectiveness or cost-utility. Results will be synthesised narratively and quality of included studies will be assessed using tools developed by Husereau *et al* for reporting of economic evaluations and Phillips *et al* for any model-based economic evaluations.<sup>56, 57</sup>

This work package will provide conclusive evidence and an assessment of the quality of the published evidence available for prophylactic drugs for chronic migraine and will also help with sourcing appropriate inputs which are required for the economic model in WP4 such as resource use, costs, utilities and probabilities.

### WP4: Cost-effectiveness model. Co-leads: HM, FA

RQ: Which prophylactic drugs for the management of chronic migraine are the most cost-effective? Clinical and cost-effectiveness evidence and AEs data identified from our reviews will inform a

comprehensive decision-analytical model to estimate the comparative cost-effectiveness of prophylactic drugs used for the treatment of chronic migraine.

We will have identified all published model-based economic evaluations of chronic migraine from our systematic reviews of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness evidence. Based on this, we will determine whether development of a *de novo* economic model is required. Any such model will be based on approaches already used by NICE.<sup>58, 59</sup> The structure of the decision problem (e.g. choice of comparators, time horizon, perspective, type of model) will be informed by both the identified literature and the clinical expertise of the project team. We will populate the chosen model based on the evidence base we identify. We will only include drugs with some evidence of effectiveness identified from our systematic review and NMA.

Using the model, we will calculate costs and utilities for each comparator, and estimate incremental cost-effectiveness ratios to determine the recommended treatment given willingness-to-pay thresholds commonly used by NICE to inform UK adoption decisions. We will carry out probabilistic sensitivity analyses to quantify decision uncertainty based on the evidence currently available, presenting our results as cost-effectiveness acceptability curves.

We will also do value-of—information analyses (expected value of sample information) to explore the likelihood that additional evidence might alter the recommendation, and determine parameters of study design (e.g., choice of comparator(s), length of follow-up, choice of outcome measures) that maximise the value of any future RCTs. This will help inform our recommendations for future research.

### WP5: Consensus findings and research recommendations. Co-leads: RP, SR

## RQ: What should the research recommendations be based on our findings, and which should be highest priority?

We will work with the WP leads and our patient and clinical collaborators using consensus methodology to develop a clear and understandable set of research recommendations based on the findings of WP1-4. Throughout the study, we will meet with WP leads and our PPI partners to discuss emerging findings, to ensure that prior to the consensus meeting we have accessible and understandable summaries of each major finding.

We will invite around 15 people with chronic migraine and 10 clinicians to a consensus meeting. People with chronic migraine will be identified via communications from the National Migraine Centre who will advertise on social media and through newsletters/mailing lists. Clinicians will be identified from our networks including the Association of British Neurologists (ABN) — Headache and Pain Subsection; British Association for the Study of Headaches (BASH); and the UK Headache GPSi Network.

Participants will be provided with a summary of our findings in advance. We will use Nominal Group Technique to encourage everyone to contribute.<sup>60-63</sup> We used similar approaches for multiple studies, including our consensus exercises to develop a headache classification tools, a core outcome set for migraine trials.<sup>39, 60, 62, 64</sup> At the meeting we will do a short presentation of the findings, and present some potential research recommendations. We will then break the participants up into groups (two clinicians and three people with migraine per group) and ask them to discuss our suggested research

recommendations, identify any other recommendations themselves, and rank these in terms of priority. Each group will also be assigned a scribe and a facilitator. We will have a breakaway session, where all people with migraine meet, and all clinicians meet, to reflect on whether there were any issue sharing their perspectives in the mixed groups. If so, a spokesperson from each group will be assigned to share this with the wider group. We will then bring the participants back together and discuss their rankings as a wider group and reach a consensus using anonymous polling.

We anticipate this will take place in Month 16/17 of the project. We are hopeful that we will be able to do this face-to-face. If not, we will conduct the event virtually and utilise software which is supported by the University of Warwick such as Microsoft Teams.

### **Publication strategy**

We aim to publish several standalone publications from this project:

- Systematic review and NMA of effectiveness of pharmacological preventive medications for chronic migraine
- Systematic review of AEs of pharmacological interventions for migraine
- Systematic review of cost-effectiveness studies for chronic migraine including an economic model assessing which drugs are cost-effective for the management of chronic migraine
- Paper setting the agenda for future research.

These will be published in relevant open access journals such as Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain; Journal of Headache and Pain; and Cephalagia and presented at relevant conferences such as the International Headache Society Congress and the European Headache Federation Congress. All systematic review protocols will be made available on PROSPERO.

### **Academic output**

### **Informing NHS/policymakers and Impact**

Links to all findings will be available via a dedicated project webpage hosted by the University of Warwick. If we show that certain drugs are cost-effective for chronic migraine, we will work with our patient-partners to highlight this information to the NHS and policy makers to directly improve patients' quality of life and reduce the financial burden on the NHS. We also have an established relationship with the National Migraine Centre and will continue to work with them to share our findings with patients. Their website gets over 2.2 million visitors per year so is an excellent way to reach our target audience.

### **Timelines**

See attached project management plan. In brief:

Months 1-2: Protocol development and WP1/WP2/WP3 literature searches

Months 2-4: WP1/WP2/WP3 screening

Months 4-8: WP1/WP2/WP3 data extraction

Months 8-12: WP1/WP2/WP3 analyses

Months 11-16: WP4 model development and analysis

Months 16-17: WP5 meeting to develop research recommendations

Months 15-18: Writing up.

This protocol is being submitted to NETSCC MIS on  $20^{\text{th}}$  September.

### References

- 1. Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M, et al. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet* 2012; 380: 2163-2196.
- 2. Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, Vos T, et al. Migraine is first cause of disability in under 50s: will health politicians now take notice? *The Journal of Headache and Pain* 2018; 19. DOI: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s10194-018-0846-2">https://doi.org/10.1186/s10194-018-0846-2</a>.
- 3. BASH. Guidelines for all healthcare professionals in the diagnosis and management of migraine, tension-type, cluster and medication overuse headache. 3rd ed. 2010, p. 1-52.
- 4. Hagen K, Zwart J, Vatten L, et al. Prevalence of migraine and non-migrainous headache—head-HUNT, a large population-based study. *Cephalalgia* 2000; 20: 900-906.
- 5. Stovner L, Hagen K, Jensen R, et al. The global burden of headache: a documentation of headache prevalence and disability worldwide. *Cephalalgia* 2007; 27: 193-210.
- 6. Organization WH. *Atlas of headache disorders and resources in the world 2011*. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 2011.
- 7. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Global Burden of Disability Compare, <a href="https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/">https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/</a> (2020, accessed 9th September 2020).
- 8. Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ and Vos T. GBD 2015: migraine is the third cause of disability in under 50s. *The Journal of Headache and Pain* 2016.
- 9. Nichols VP, Ellard DR, Griffiths FE, et al. The lived experience of chronic headache: a systematic review and synthesis of the qualitative literature. *BMJ open* 2017; 7: e019929.
- 10. Steiner TJ, Stovner LJ, Katsarava Z, et al. The impact of headache in Europe: principal results of the Eurolight project. *The journal of headache and pain* 2014; 15: 31.
- 11. Leonardi M and Raggi A. A narrative review on the burden of migraine: when the burden is the impact on people's life. *The journal of headache and pain* 2019; 20: 41.
- 12. Raggi A, Covelli V, Guastafierro E, et al. Validation of a self-reported instrument to assess work-related difficulties in patients with migraine: the HEADWORK questionnaire. *The journal of headache and pain* 2018; 19: 85.
- 13. Diener H-C, Charles A, Goadsby PJ, et al. New therapeutic approaches for the prevention and treatment of migraine. *The Lancet Neurology* 2015; 14: 1010-1022.
- 14. Dodick DW, Silberstein SD, Bigal ME, et al. Effect of fremanezumab compared with placebo for prevention of episodic migraine: a randomized clinical trial. *Jama* 2018; 319: 1999-2008.
- 15. Goadsby PJ, Reuter U, Hallström Y, et al. A controlled trial of erenumab for episodic migraine. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2017; 377: 2123-2132.
- 16. Silberstein SD, Dodick DW, Bigal ME, et al. Fremanezumab for the preventive treatment of chronic migraine. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2017; 377: 2113-2122.
- 17. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. British National Formulary (BNF), <a href="https://bnf.nice.org.uk/">https://bnf.nice.org.uk/</a> (2020, accessed 9th December 2020).
- 18. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Management of migraine (with or without aura), <a href="https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/headaches/management-of-migraine-with-or-without-aura">https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/headaches/management-of-migraine-with-or-without-aura</a> (2015, accessed 10th September 2020).
- 19. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). *Pharmacological management of migraine: A national clinical guideline.* . SIGN, 2018.
- 20. Steiner TJ. Headache in the world: public health and research priorities. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research* 2013; 13: 51-57.
- 21. Jackson JL, Cogbill E, Santana-Davila R, et al. A comparative effectiveness meta-analysis of drugs for the prophylaxis of migraine headache. *PloS one* 2015; 10: e0130733.
- 22. Bartolini M, Silvestrini M, Taffi R, et al. Efficacy of topiramate and valproate in chronic migraine. *Clinical neuropharmacology* 2005; 28: 277-279.
- 23. Behan P and Connelly K. Prophylaxis of migraine: a comparison between naproxen sodium and pizotifen. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 1986; 26: 237-239.
- 24. Beran RG and Spira PJ. Levetiracetam in chronic daily headache: A double-blind, randomised placebo-controlled study: (The Australian KEPPRA Headache Trial [AUS-KHT]). *Cephalalgia* 2011; 31: 530-536.
- 25. Couch JR and Group AVPS. Amitriptyline in the prophylactic treatment of migraine and chronic daily headache. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2011; 51: 33-51.
- 26. Diener H, Bussone G, Oene JV, et al. Topiramate reduces headache days in chronic migraine: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Cephalalgia* 2007; 27: 814-823.

- 27. Domingues RB, Silva AL, Domingues SA, et al. A double-blind randomized controlled trial of low doses of propranolol, nortriptyline, and the combination of propranolol and nortriptyline for the preventive treatment of migraine. *Arguivos de neuro-psiguiatria* 2009; 67: 973-977.
- 28. Mei D, Ferraro D, Zelano G, et al. Topiramate and triptans revert chronic migraine with medication overuse to episodic migraine. *Clinical neuropharmacology* 2006; 29: 269-275.
- 29. Saper JR, Lake III AE, Cantrell DT, et al. Chronic daily headache prophylaxis with tizanidine: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter outcome study. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2002; 42: 470-482.
- 30. Saper JR, Silberstein SD, Lake III AE, et al. Double-blind trial of fluoxetine: chronic daily headache and migraine. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 1994; 34: 497-502.
- 31. Silberstein SD, Lipton RB, Dodick DW, et al. Efficacy and safety of topiramate for the treatment of chronic migraine: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2007; 47: 170-180.
- 32. Silvestrini M, Bartolini M, Coccia M, et al. Topiramate in the treatment of chronic migraine. *Cephalalgia* 2003; 23: 820-824.
- 33. Stensrud P and Sjaastad O. Comparative trial of Tenormin (atenolol) and Inderal (propranolol) in migraine. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 1980; 20: 204-207.
- 34. Yurekli VA, Akhan G, Kutluhan S, et al. The effect of sodium valproate on chronic daily headache and its subgroups. *The journal of headache and pain* 2008; 9: 37.
- 35. Bigal ME, Escandon R, Bronson M, et al. Safety, tolerability, and efficacy of TEV-48125 for preventive treatment of high-frequency episodic migraine: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b study. *The Lancet Neurology* 2014; 14: 1081-1090.
- 36. Tepper S, Ashina M, Reuter U, et al. Safety and efficacy of erenumab for preventive treatment of chronic migraine: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *The Lancet Neurology* 2017; 16: 425-434.
- 37. Forbes RB, McCarron M and Cardwell CR. Efficacy and Contextual (Placebo) Effects of CGRP Antibodies for Migraine: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2020; 60: 1542-1557.
- 38. Roberts M. Migraine: New drug works when others fail, researchers say, https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health-43781227 (2018, accessed 10th September 2020).
- 39. Haywood K, Potter R, Froud R, et al. A Core Outcome Set for Preventive Intervention Trials in Chronic and Episodic Migraine (COSMIG): An international, consensus-derived and multi-stakeholder initiative *BMJ Open* In press.
- 40. Brandes JL. The migraine cycle: patient burden of migraine during and between migraine attacks. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2008; 48: 430-441.
- 41. Kowacs PA, Piovesan EJ and Tepper SJ. Rejection and acceptance of possible side effects of migraine prophylactic drugs. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2009; 49: 1022-1027.
- 42. Mansfield C, Gebben DJ, Sutphin J, et al. Patient Preferences for Preventive Migraine Treatments: A Discrete-Choice Experiment. *Headache: The Journal of Head and Face Pain* 2019; 59: 715-726.
- 43. Hansard Parliament UK. Independent Medicines and Medical Devices Safety Review. Volume 678: debated on Thursday 9 July 2020, <a href="https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2020-07-09/debates/5190E4DD-1319-4187-B1A2-">https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2020-07-09/debates/5190E4DD-1319-4187-B1A2-</a>
- <u>13E9ACC3098D/IndependentMedicinesAndMedicalDevicesSafetyReview</u> (2020, accessed 22 December 2020).
- 44. Yu J, Smith KJ and Brixner DI. Cost effectiveness of pharmacotherapy for the prevention of migraine. *CNS drugs* 2010; 24: 695-712.
- 45. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Guide to the methods of technology appraisal. *National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) London, UK* 2013.
- 46. Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 6.0.* John Wiley & Sons, 2019.
- 47. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS med* 2009; 6: e1000097.
- 48. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Systematic reviews* 2015; 4: 1.
- 49. Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction—GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 2011; 64: 383-394.
- 50. Caldwell DM, Dias S and Welton NJ. Extending treatment networks in health technology assessment: how far should we go? *Value in Health* 2015; 18: 673-681.

- 51. Dias S, Welton NJ, Sutton AJ, et al. NICE DSU technical support document 2: a generalised linear modelling framework for pairwise and network meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. 2011.
- 52. Ades A, Lu G and Higgins J. The interpretation of random-effects meta-analysis in decision models. *Medical Decision Making* 2005; 25: 646-654.
- 53. Higgins JP and Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. *Statistics in medicine* 2002; 21: 1539-1558.
- 54. Dias S, Sutton AJ, Welton NJ, et al. NICE DSU Technical Support Document 3: Heterogeneity: subgroups, meta-regression, bias and bias-adjustment. 2011.
- 55. Dias S, Welton NJ, Sutton AJ, et al. NICE DSU Technical Support Document 4: Inconsistency in Networks of Evidence Based on Randomised Controlled Trials. 2011.
- 56. Husereau D, Drummond M, Petrou S, et al. Consolidated health economic evaluation reporting standards (CHERS) statement. *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation* 2013: 11: 6.
- 57. Phillips Z, Ginelly L, Sculpher M, et al. A review of guidelines for good practice in modelling in economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess* 2004; 8: 1-172.
- 58. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Headaches: diagnosis and management of headaches in young people and adults.* National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2012.
- 59. Royle P, Cummins E, Walker C, et al. *Botulinum toxin type A for the prevention of headaches in adults with chronic migraine Single Technology Apprasial.* 2011. Warwick Evidence.
- 60. Mars T, Ellard DR, Antrobus JH, et al. Intraarticular facet injections for low back pain: design considerations, consensus methodology to develop the protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Pain Physician* 2015; 18: 473-493.
- 61. Nair R, Aggarwal R and Khanna D. Methods of formal consensus in classification/diagnostic criteria and guideline development. *Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism* 2011; 41: 95-105.
- 62. Potter R, Hee SW, Griffiths F, et al. Development and validation of a telephone classification interview for common chronic headache disorders. *The journal of headache and pain* 2019; 20: 2.
- 63. Van de Ven AH and Delbecq AL. The nominal group as a research instrument for exploratory health studies. *American journal of public health* 1972; 62: 337-342.
- 64. Hughes C, Ellard DR, Campbell A, et al. Developing evidence-based guidance for assessment of suspected infections in care home residents. *BMC geriatrics* 2020; 20: 1-11.